
Page 1

AGENDA 
Meeting: Northern Area Planning Committee

Place: Council Chamber - Council Offices, Monkton Park, Chippenham

Date: Wednesday 6 January 2016

Time: 3.00 pm

Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Natalie Heritage, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line: 01225 718062 or email: 
natalie.heritage@wiltshire.gov.uk 

Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115.

This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk 

Membership:

Cllr Tony Trotman (Chairman)
Cllr Peter Hutton (Vice Chairman)
Cllr Christine Crisp
Cllr Mollie Groom
Cllr Chris Hurst
Cllr Mark Packard
Cllr Sheila Parker

Cllr Toby Sturgis
Cllr Chuck Berry
Cllr Terry Chivers
Cllr Ernie Clark
Cllr Howard Greenman
Cllr Howard Marshall

Substitutes:

Cllr Philip Whalley
Cllr Desna Allen
Cllr Glenis Ansell
Cllr Mary Champion
Cllr Bill Douglas
Cllr Dennis Drewett

Cllr Jacqui Lay
Cllr Linda Packard
Cllr Graham Wright
Cllr George Jeans
Cllr Melody Thompson

mailto:natalie.heritage@wiltshire.gov.uk
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


Page 2

RECORDING AND BROADCASTING NOTIFICATION

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the 
Council’s website at http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv.  At the start of the meeting, the 
Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being recorded. The images and 
sound recordings may also be used for training purposes within the Council.

By entering the meeting room you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of 
those images and recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes.

The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public.
 
Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they 
accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 
relation to any such claims or liabilities.

Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 
available on the Council’s website along with this agenda and available on request.

If you have any queries please contact Democratic Services using the contact details 
above.

http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv/


Page 3

AGENDA
1  Apologies 

To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting.

2  Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 14)

To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 9 
December 2015.

3  Declarations of Interest 

To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

4  Chairman's Announcements 

To receive any announcements through the Chairman.

5  Public Participation and Councillors' Questions 

The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public.

Statements
Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an 
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register in person no 
later than 2:50pm on the day of the meeting.

The Chairman will allow up to 3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against 
an application and up to 3 speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each 
speaker will be given up to 3 minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to 
the item being considered. The rules on public participation in respect of 
planning applications are detailed in the Council’s Planning Code of Good 
Practice.

Questions 
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the 
Council received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in 
particular, questions on non-determined planning applications. Those wishing to 
ask questions are required to give notice of any such questions in writing to the 
officer named on the front of this agenda no later than 5pm on 29 December 
2015. Please contact the officer named on the front of this agenda for further 
advice. Questions may be asked without notice if the Chairman decides that the 
matter is urgent.

Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website.

6  Planning Applications 

To consider and determine planning applications as detailed below.



Page 4

6a  14/08906/FUL- Kingsdown Golf Club, Corsham, Wiltshire, SN13 8BS 
(Pages 15 - 34)

7  Urgent Items 

Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 
taken as a matter of urgency.



NORTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE NORTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 9 DECEMBER 2015 AT COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNCIL OFFICES, 
MONKTON PARK, CHIPPENHAM.

Present:

Cllr Tony Trotman (Chairman), Cllr Mollie Groom, Cllr Chris Hurst, Cllr Mark Packard, 
Cllr Sheila Parker, Cllr Toby Sturgis, Cllr Chuck Berry, Cllr Terry Chivers, 
Cllr Howard Greenman, Cllr Jacqui Lay (Substitute) and Cllr Howard Marshall 

122 Apologies

Apologies were received from Cllr Christine Crisp. It was noted that Cllr Crisp 
would substituted at the meeting by Cllr Jacqui Lay.

It was noted that, following the decision of Council made on the 25th November, 
Cllr Howard Marshal was now a member of the NAPC, and that Cllr Ernie Clark 
was now a substitute only.

123 Minutes of the Previous Meeting

The minutes of the meeting held on 28 October 2015 were presented.

Resolved:

That the minutes of the meeting held on the 28 October 2015 be approved 
as a true and correct record for signing by the Chairman.

124 Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.

125 Chairman's Announcements

There Chairman drew the meeting’s attention to the following matters:
The evacuation procedures; the procedure for public participation; and the 
policy on recording and broadcasting of meetings.

126 Public Participation and Councillors' Questions

The Committee noted the rules on public participation, and that there were no 
questions submitted.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



127 Planning Applications

Attention was drawn to the late list of observations provided at the meeting, 
circulated at the meeting and as an agenda supplement, in respect of 
application 6a – 15/04763/FUL as listed in the agenda pack.

128 15/04763/FUL - Parsonage Way, Chippenham, Wiltshire

The Case Officer outlined the report that recommended that the application be 
approved subject to conditions. The officer made reference to the late 
observations summarised by the officers, and how the issues raised had been 
responded to.

Reference was also made to some additional late submissions made by 
members of the public; the officer noted that he had not had sufficient time to 
consider the implications of this additional late information.

In the course of his presentation, the officer confirmed: that the proposed Bund 
would be 3m high; that legal advice had been given confirming the officers 
recommendation on the Environmental Impact Assessment Screening Opinion 
requirements, in that the application could be considered independently and 
therefore did not meet the tests established by case law as to requirements for 
a screening opinion; and that progress of the Chippenham Sites Development 
Plan Document did not hinder the consideration of this application. 

In response to questions from the Committee, the officer stated: that he did not 
believe there were any concerns with regard to utilities; and that they had no 
representation from colleagues in the Property Team with regard to this 
application.
 
Edward Barham, Robert Whitrow and Robert Woodward spoke in objection to 
the application; and Ian Jewson spoke in support of the application. Cllr David 
Mannering spoke on behalf of Langley Burrell Parish Council.

Cllr Howard Greenman spoke in his capacity as the local member, and also 
made representations on behalf of Cllr Chris Caswill, the local member for the 
ward neighbouring the proposal. 

Issues discussed in the course of the presentation and debate included: the 
proposed car park and storage area; the current agricultural use of the land and 
its position outside the settlement boundary; the vegetation currently on the site; 
the access arrangements to the site, and the views of the highways officer; the 
design and operation of the lighting, and the impact of this on the visual aspect; 
the size, scale and composition of the bund; the changes made at the request 
of landscape and conservation officers including extension to the length of the 
bund and the mix of types of trees; the proximity of the proposals to listed 
buildings and the conservation area; how the potential employment benefits 
arising from the proposal could be balanced against any possible negative 

Page 6



impacts; the views of the conservation officers; how drainage, ecological and 
archaeological matters are to be addressed; the potential impact of the 
proposals on residential amenity, and the distance of the proposals to other 
properties; how the proposals accord with planning policies including CP34; the 
proposals to extinguish and divert an existing right of way; the implications of 
additional industrial noise, and the steps that could be taken to mitigate; the 
traffic movements and their impact; the operating hours and how these are 
conditioned; and the consultation undertaken, and the views of local residents 
and groups.

Cllr Peter Hutton proposed, subsequently seconded by Cllr Toby Sturgis, that 
the officers recommendation that planning approval be accepted.

Having been put to the vote, the meeting;

Resolved

That planning permission be approved subject to the following 
conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

REASON:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans and documents: 
 C14930 - C001 Revision D Surface Water Drainage Strategy 
 683-01D Landscape Proposals Received 26/08/15
 CHIP PH2/FOOT Footpath Diversion
 CHIP PH2/RED Site Location Plan
 CHIP PH2/OFF Office and WC Layout
 CHIP PH2/TOPO Topographical Survey
 14930/AT01 B Swept Path Analysis Received 20/05/2015
 Design and Access Statement
 Ecological Survey
 Flood Risk Assessment 
 Ground Investigation Report
 Lighting Report
 Tree Constraints Report
 Archaeology Assessment 
 Transport Statement Received 20/05/2015
 Archaeological Investigation Received 22/10/2015

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning.

Page 7



3. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted 
details of proposed ground levels on the site shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme 
shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed details. Details 
can be submitted and approved in phases for identified parts of the 
site/development hereby permitted.

REASON:  In the interests of visual amenity.

4. No  development  shall  commence  on  site  until  details  of  the  
works  for  the disposal of sewerage including the point of 
connection to the existing public sewer have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling shall 
be first occupied until the approved sewerage details have been fully 
implemented in accordance with the approved plans.

REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable 
this matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission and 
the matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
before development commences in order that the development is 
undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure that the proposal is 
provided with a satisfactory means of drainage and does not increase 
the risk of flooding or pose a risk to public health or the environment.

5. The development hereby permitted shall not be first brought into use 
until the approved [sewage   disposal]   [drainage]   works   proposed   
have   been   completed   in accordance with the submitted and 
approved details.

REASON: To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory 
means of drainage.

6. The floodlight(s) hereby approved shall not be illuminated outside 
the hours of 05:00am in the morning and 11pm in the evening from 
Mondays to Sundays.  The floodlights shall not be illuminated at 
any time on Bank or Public Holidays.

REASON:  To minimise the impact of the floodlight(s) and in the 
interests of the amenity of the area.

7. The B8 Stockyard use hereby permitted (excluding the use of the 
staff car park) shall only take place between the hours of 05:00am in 
the morning and 11pm in the evening from Mondays to Sundays.  
The use shall not take place at any time on Bank or Public 
Holidays.

Page 8



REASON:  To ensure the creation/retention of an environment free from 
intrusive levels of noise and activity in the interests of the amenity of the 
area.

8. The site shall be used for B8 Storage and Distribution and for no 
other purpose (including any other purpose in Class B of the 
Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as amended) (or in any provisions equivalent to that class  in  
any  statutory  instrument  revoking  or  re-enacting  that  Order  with  
or without modification).

REASON:  The proposed use is acceptable but the Local Planning 
Authority wish to consider any future proposal for a change of use 
having regard to the circumstances of the case.

9. No demolition, site clearance or development shall commence on site 
until an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) prepared by an 
arboricultural consultant providing comprehensive details of 
construction works in relation to trees shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  All works shall 
subsequently be carried out in strict accordance with the approved 
details. In particular, the method statement must provide the 
following: -

 A specification for protective fencing to trees during both demolition 
and construction phases which complies with BS5837:2012 and a plan 
indicating the alignment of the protective fencing;

 A specification for scaffolding and ground protection within tree 
protection zones in accordance with BS5837:2012

 A schedule of tree works conforming to BS3998.
 Details of general arboricultural matters such as the area for storage of 

materials, concrete mixing and use of fires; 
 Plans and particulars showing the siting of the service and piping 

infrastructure;
 A full specification for the construction of any arboriculturally 

sensitive structures and sections through them, including the 
installation of boundary treatment works, the method of construction of 
the access driveway including details of the no-dig specification and 
extent of the areas of the driveway to be constructed using a no-dig 
specification;  

 Details of the works requiring arboricultural supervision to be carried 
out by the developer’s arboricultural consultant, including details of the 
frequency of supervisory visits and procedure for notifying the Local 
Planning Authority of the findings of the supervisory visits; and

 Details of all other activities, which have implications for trees on or 
adjacent to the site. 

Page 9



REASON:  In order that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied that 
the trees to be retained on and adjacent to the site will not be damaged 
during the construction works and to ensure that as far as possible the 
work is carried out in accordance with current best practice and section 
197 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

10.No construction or demolition work shall take place on Sundays or 
Public Holidays or outside the hours of 07:30 to 18:00 Monday to 
Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays. No burning of waste or other 
materials shall take place on the development site during the 
demolition/construction phase of the development.

REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the locality.

11.Prior to the commencement of development submit detailed design 
proposals for the approval of the LPA for the construction of the 
eastern road access and culverted watercourse.  Submitted 
information shall include full details of trees and areas of shrub which 
will require removal; The route alignment and specification of 
temporary tree protection fencing in relation to retained trees; Details 
of existing, and proposed levels; Detailed cross sections through the 
proposed access road embankment and watercourse culvert; Full 
planting details to include proposed location and specification of; 
seed mix, shrubs and trees. 

REASON: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area.

12.All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping 
shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following 
the first use of the land or the completion of the development 
whichever is the sooner; All shrubs, trees and hedge planting shall be 
maintained free from weeds and shall be protected from damage by 
vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five 
years, die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar 
size and species, commencing from the date of notified completion of 
the approved landscaping scheme to the LPA, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  All hard landscaping 
shall also be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior 
to the B8 Stockyard development and excluding the car park hereby 
approved being first brought into use or in accordance with a 
programme to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the 
development and the protection of existing important landscape features.

13.A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority 
before commencement of the development. The content of the LEMP 

Page 10



shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, the following 
information:
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed;
b) Landscape and ecological trends and constraints on site that might 

influence management;
c) Aims and objectives of management;
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and 

objectives;
e) Prescriptions for management actions;
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan 

capable of being rolled forward over an (5) year period;
g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation 

of the plan;
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures;
i) Details of how the aims and objectives of the LEMP will be 

communicated to future occupiers of the development.

The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding 
mechanism(s) by which the long-term implementation of the plan will be 
secured by the developer with the management body/ies responsible for 
its delivery.

The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that 
the conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how 
contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and 
implemented.

The LEMP shall be implemented in full in accordance with the approved 
details.

REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this 
matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission and the  
matter  is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before 
development commences  in  order  that  the  development  is  undertaken  
in  an  acceptable manner,  to  ensure  adequate  protection,  mitigation  
and  compensation  for protected species, priority species and priority 
habitats.

14.Notwithstanding the submitted details the lighting columns and head 
covers shall be finished in a matt mid grey colour and maintained as 
such thereafter.

REASON: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of 
the listed building and its setting.

15.The development hereby permitted shall not be first brought into use 
until the accesses have been constructed in accordance with details 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. The accesses shall be maintained as such thereafter.

Page 11



REASON: In the interests of highway safety.

16.No development shall commence within the area indicated [top  part of 
the southern field (trenches 5 and 6) Context One Archaeological Field 
Evaluation Dated 22/10/2015 ] until:
a) further archaeological recording (strip, map and record excavation) 

of this area has taken place and a report of the process and 
findings has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.

REASON:  To enable the recording of any matters of archaeological 
interest.

INFORMATIVES:

WP6 ALTERATIONS TO APPROVED PLANS

Any alterations to the approved plans, brought about by compliance with 
Building Regulations or any other reason must first be agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority before commencement of work.

WP12 DIVERSION OF RIGHTS OF WAY

Please be advised that nothing in this permission shall authorise the 
diversion, obstruction, or stopping up of any right of way that crosses the 
site. You are advised to contact the PROW officer on 01225 713392.

WP13 PUBLIC SEWERS

The applicant should note that the grant of planning permission does not 
include any separate permission which may be needed to erect a 
structure in the vicinity of a public sewer.  Such permission should be 
sought direct from Thames Water Utilities Ltd / Wessex Water Services 
Ltd. Buildings are not normally allowed within 3.0 metres of a Public 
Sewer although this may vary depending on the size, depth, strategic 
importance, available access and the ground conditions appertaining to 
the sewer in question.

WP17 COST OF BUILDING RECORDING/ARCHAEOLOGICAL WORK

The  applicant  should  note  that  the  costs  of  carrying  out  a  
programme of archaeological investigation and recording will fall to the 
applicant or their successors in title. The Local Planning Authority cannot 
be held responsible for any costs incurred.

WP18 PERMISSION NOT AUTHORISING WORK ON LAND OUTSIDE THE 
APPLICANT'S CONTROL & PARTY WALL ACT

Page 12



The applicant is requested to note that this permission does not affect any 
private property rights and therefore does not authorise the carrying out 
of any work on land outside their control. If such works are required it will 
be necessary for the applicant to obtain the landowners consent before 
such works commence.

If you intend carrying out works in the vicinity of the site boundary, you 
are also advised that it may be expedient to seek your own advice with 
regard to the requirements of the Party Wall Act 1996.

WP19 BADGERS ACT

The applicant should note that there may be badger setts in the vicinity of 
the site, and as a consequence compliance with certain requirements and 
provisions of the Badgers Act 1991 may be necessary. If this is the case 
the applicant is advised to contact Natural England who are responsible 
for issuing licences relating to development on the site of badger setts.

WP20 WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT

The applicant should note that under the terms of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act (1981) and the Habitats Regulations (2010) it is an offence 
to disturb or harm any protected species, or to damage or disturb their 
habitat or resting place.    Please   note   that   this   consent   does   not   
override   the   statutory protection afforded to any such species.  In the 
event that your proposals could potentially affect a protected species you 
should seek the advice of a suitably qualified and experienced ecologist 
and consider the need for a licence from Natural England prior to 
commencing works.  Please see Natural England’s website for further 
information on protected species.

WP21 WORKS TO HIGHWAY – CONSENT REQUIRED BY HIGHWAY 
AUTHORITY

The consent hereby granted shall not be construed as authority to carry 
out works on the highway.  The applicant is advised that a license may be 
required from Wiltshire’s Highway Authority before any works are carried 
out on any footway, footpath, carriageway, verge or other land forming 
part of the highway.

WP31 MATERIAL SAMPLES

Please note that Council offices do not have the facility to receive material 
samples. Please deliver material samples to site and inform the Planning 
Officer where they are to be found.

129 Urgent Items

Page 13

http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/Images/ProtectedSpeciesLists_tcm6-25123.pdf
http://www.ieem.net/members-directory
http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/planningdevelopment/spatialplanning/standingadvice/default.aspx


There were no urgent items.

(Duration of meeting:  3.00  - 4.01 pm)

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Fiona Rae, of Democratic Services, 
direct line , e-mail 

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115

Page 14



REPORT OUTLINE FOR AREA PLANNING COMMITTEES

Date of Meeting 06 January 2016

Application Number 14/08906/FUL

Site Address Kingsdown Golf Club

Kingsdown

Corsham

Wiltshire

SN13 8BS

Proposal Installation And Commissioning Of Two Small Scale Wind 
Turbines.

Applicant Kingsdown Golf Club

Town/Parish Council BOX

Electoral Division BOX AND COLERNE – (Cllr Shelia Parker)

Grid Ref 381541  167096

Type of application Full Planning

Case Officer Mark Staincliffe

Reason for the application being considered by Committee 
The application has been called in by Cllr Shelia Parker to consider the effect of the 
development on the character and appearance of the area, in particular the impact of the 
development on the Green Belt and adjacent AONB.

1. Purpose of Report
To consider the above application and to recommend that planning permission is GRANTED 
subject to planning conditions.

2. Report Summary
The main issues in considering the application are:

 Principle of development
 Impact on the Green Belt
 Cumulative impact with other turbines in the vicinity
 Visual impact on the character and appearance of the area & AONB                                                                                                            
 Ecological Impact and mitigation measures for site and surrounding land 
 Construction and decommissioning of site impacts on adjacent highway network
 Affect on the public rights of way and the golf course
 WMS of 18 June 2015

Box Parish Council, Monkton Farleigh & South Wraxhall Parish Council object to the 
application, which has also generated 27 letters of objection and 5 letters of support.

Page 15

Agenda Item 6a



Site Description
The site is located outside of any defined settlement within the open countryside, Green Belt 
and within close proximity to the AONB boundary and will therefore be visible from within 
and outside of these designated areas. The site is approximately 56 hectares in total and is 
located within the curtilage of land owned by Kingsdown Golf Club.

The proposed development is approximately 500m from the closest residential dwelling and 
over 1km from the nearest Listed building (Hatt Farm). Box 73 public footpath and Box100 
bridleway are in close proximity to the proposed wind turbines.

3. Planning History

N/07/03263/FUL Change of Use of Land to a 3 hole Golf Academy Course with a Driving 
Range Building and Car Park WITHDRAWN

N/08/01114/COU Change of Use of Land to Three Hole Golf Academy Course with a 
Driving Range Building and Car Park GRANTED

4. The Proposal
The installation of two 10kW Tozzi Nord Wind Turbines at a hub height of 14.9m and a tip 
height of 21.5m at Kingsdown Golf Club, Corsham. Since the original planning application 
was submitted to the Council the siting of the wind turbines has been amended due to 
recommendations set out in the updated ecological report.

The proposal also includes all ground works and electrical connections. The wind turbines’ 
inverter will be located in the turbine cabinet adjacent to the turbine and will convert the 
variable current output of the wind turbine into a utility frequency alternating current, which 
can be utilised on site. 

5. Planning Policy

Wiltshire Core Strategy Jan 2015:
CP1- Settlement Strategy
CP2- Delivery Strategy
CP3- Infrastructure Requirements
CP42- Standalone Renewable Energy Installations 
CP48- Supporting Rural Life
CP50- Biodiversity and Geo Diversity
CP51- Landscape
CP57- Ensuring High Quality Design and Place Shaping
CP58- Ensuring the Conservation of the Historic Environment
CP62- Development Impacts on the Highway Network

Saved Policies of the North Wiltshire Local Plan:
NE18- Noise and Pollution

National Planning Policy Framework 2012:
Achieving sustainable development – Core Planning Principles (Paragraphs 7 14 & 17)
Chapter 1- Building a strong, competitive economy (Paragraphs 18 & 19)
Chapter 7- Requiring Good Design (Paragraphs 56, 60, 61, & 64)
Chapter 8- Promoting healthy communities (Paragraph 75)
Chapter 9- Protecting Green Belt Land (Paragraphs 79, 87, 88, 89, & 91)
Chapter 10- Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

(Paragraphs 98, 100, 101 & 103)

Page 16



Chapter 11- Conserving and enhancing the natural environment (Paragraphs 109, 112, 
118 &123)

Chapter 12- Conserving and enhancing the historic environment (Paragraphs 126, 128, 
129, 132, 133 and 139)

6. Summary of consultation responses
Box Parish Council- Object. Inappropriate development in the Green Belt, AONB in a 
particularly prominent position which will have a visible impact on the landscape.

Monkton Farleigh Parish Council- Object on 5 grounds (noise, visual impact, alternative 
development, birds and future developments

South Wraxall Parish Council- Object The wind turbines would be ½ km to the nearest 
property which would  impact on visibility causing shadow flicker and, as importantly, noise 
pollution in an area where there is currently no noise. It is an unacceptable development in 
the Green Belt and The Parish Council is also concerned that there is a bridleway nearby.

Bath and North East Somerset Council- B&NES Council does not wish to come to a definitive 
conclusion as to the merits (or otherwise) of the proposal but there are two areas of concern.

1. The proposed turbines therefore have the potential to affect views into and out of the 
World Heritage site as well as its setting;

2. In respect of ecological designations within the B&NES area

Landscape Team- Although the development site lies just outside the ‘Cotswolds AONB’, I 
do not consider that the proposed development will result in any significantly adverse 
landscape or far reaching visual effects to the AONB in terms of its setting, or far reaching 
effects to the wider countryside. While these two small turbines will be obviously visible from 
the adjacent public highway, viewed over the adjoining dry stone wall, the resulting visual 
effects will be of a short duration and of a transient nature resulting in localised and fairly 
minor landscape and visual impacts in my opinion. This is largely due to the local blocks of 
woodland and undulating topography within the local area restricting wider levels of inter-
visibility.  

I consider this type of development to be temporary in nature, so if the LPA is minded to 
grant planning consent I would request that you consider attaching a planning condition to 
the decision notice to ensure the removal of the column itself and all associated 
infrastructure connected with the development, either within an agreed timeframe, or if 
energy production ceases at the site (similar to solar development). The main purpose of this 
should be to ensure that parts of redundant energy infrastructure are not simply abandoned 
and left in-situ, at the end of its productive life etc.

If the LPA is minded to grant planning consent for development and it proves necessary to 
widen or alter the existing site access to accommodate the delivery of turbine components, I 
request that this is permitted only as a temporary measure. 

Any dry stone walls which are necessary to remove in order to widen the existing access 
should be conditioned to be rebuilt within an agreed timeframe, to follow the commissioning 
of the turbines (or another suitably agreed trigger point).

Ecology- Having reviewed the available information, although the site has not been subject 
to the recommended level of bat survey, I am satisfied that the recommendation of relocating 
the turbines >50m from the nearest linear feature and removing the young trees from within 
this radius of the turbines would avoid potential significant effects of the turbines, and as 
such I would support such an amendment to the plans.

Page 17



Highways- Amended Plans- No objection

RSPB- Object to original proposal.  Objection withdrawn as a result of additional information 
and the amended plans according with the recommendations in the report.

MOD- No objection

English Heritage- No comments offered

Public Protection- Their impact is likely to be minimal with regards to noise.

Having read the acoustic report produced by “Life Long Energy”, the predicted noise level for 
each receptor is below 35dB for all noise sensitive receptors.  The prediction model the 
report has used has taken worst case scenario for predicted noise levels on Noise Sensitive 
receptors. There should be no adverse impact based on this report, however the report 
concludes that a complaints procedure should be put in place to manage and investigate 
noise complaints generated from the use of the turbines. 

I recommend that the following condition is attached to the permission:

Prior to the first use of the development permitted, a Noise Management Plan (NMP) will be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The Noise Management Plan 
shall include a methodology to receive, assess and respond to noise complaints and take 
preventative action where possible to manage future incidents.

Sustainable Energy Team- Support

Cotswold Conservation Board- The Board would ask the Council to consider carefully 
whether the visual impact of these turbines, including their movement, would have an 
adverse impact on the setting of the Cotswolds AONB.

Public Right of Way Team- We would recommend erring on the side of caution with these 
developments as a spooked horse could lead to serious injuries. Recommend refusal.

3. Publicity
The application was advertised by site notice and letters to local residents and generated 27 
letters of objection and 5 letters of support 

Objection:
 Site within the Bath and Bradford on Avon Special Area of Conservation for Bats and 

close to two SSSI's. Turbines could pose a serious threat to protected species.
 No ecology survey to look at environmental and nature conservation aspects for 

protected species
 Impact on Horses
 Impact on Bath World Heritage Site
 Intrusive form of development
 Noise impact on local residents
 Misleading information submitted
 Impact of flicker on adjoining residents
 Impact on highway safety
 Impact on birds
 Poor design
 Negative impact on the character and appearance of the area & AONB
 Inappropriate development in the Green Belt

Page 18



Support
 Good clean energy
 No harm to wildlife
 Design acceptable
 Help sustain the golf club in the long term

Wiltshire Bridleways Association- On the site plan, Box bridleway 100 is recorded as a track. 
There is no reference to it being recorded on the Definitive Map as Statement as a Public 
Right of Way. (Bridleways are for the use of Pedestrians, Horse Riders and Cyclists).

It appears from the site plan that the shortest distance from the base of turbine no 1 to the 
bridleway is approximately 85mtrs, well within, we suggest, the estimated shadow flicker 
range of the turbine blades. Horses, as you will appreciate are unpredictable creatures and 
whilst an animal may pass a construction of this nature on one occasion without incident, it 
may well be 'spooked' on a second or subsequent occasion. A spooked or out of control 
horse is not only a danger to itself and or rider, but also other users of the PROW.

The British Horse Society has produced an information leaflet relating to the installation of 
wind turbines. The recommendation of that pamphlet is that wind turbines should not be 
installed within 200mtrs of a bridleway. In view of the above recommendations and safety 
aspects involved, we wish to register our objection to this planning application and trust you 
will give serious consideration to recording a decision of refusal.

4. Planning Considerations

National Energy Policy
The Energy Challenge July 2006 refers to renewable energy as an integral part of the 
Government’s strategy for tackling climate change and the key role planning has in its 
delivery. The Energy White Paper, Meeting the Challenge May 2007, reiterates the 
importance of renewable energy in the response to the challenges of climate change and 
energy security. 

The Climate Change Act 2008 sets a legally binding target to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions by at least 80% by 2050 and reductions in CO2 emissions of some 26% by 2020 
against a 1990 base. The Act set up the Committee on Climate Change (CCC) to provide 
advice on the carbon budgets necessary to meet the binding target. The Energy Act 2008 
drives the deployment of renewables with the aim of increasing the diversity of the UK’s 
electricity mix, improving reliability of energy supplies and lowering carbon emissions from 
the electricity sector.

The Renewable Energy Strategy July 2009 (RES) seeks: to reduce CO2 emissions by 2030, 
promote the security of our energy supply, and to reduce fossil fuel demand by around 10% 
and gas imports by 20–30% against forecast use in 2020. The RES notes that the UK’s 
contribution to the EU target to increase the share of renewables in the energy mix to 15% 
by 2020 represents a seven-fold increase in UK renewable energy production from 2008 
levels. The RES seeks the delivery more than 30% of electricity generated from renewables 
of which some 66% will come via on and offshore wind projects. Whilst recognising there 
would be pressure on some local environments, the RES supports the swifter delivery of 
renewable and low carbon energy applications. The RES is an integral part of the overall 
Low Carbon Transition Plan to ensure delivery of clean, secure and affordable energy of the 
future. This plan established a roadmap for the decarbonisation of the UK, set 5-year carbon 

Page 19



budgets and reiterated the central role planning has in supporting the deployment of 
renewable energy.

The Renewable Energy Action Plan July 2010 reiterates Government support for renewable 
energy and reinforced the need to meet EU targets through the development of renewable 
energy resources. The Plan refers to the CCC advising on the scope for introducing more 
ambitious targets for renewable energy. In July 2010, the Annual Energy Statement was 
published reaffirming the Government’s commitment to renewable energy and a commitment 
to drive renewables deployment through the implementation of a robust delivery plan. 

The CCC in The Renewable Energy Review - May 2011 (RER) highlights that the 2020 
ambition to develop renewables as an option for future decarbonisation requires large-scale 
investment to help support technology innovation and new policies to address barriers to 
uptake. The RER indicates that, compared with onshore wind, most other renewable energy 
generation technologies are expensive and likely to remain so until at least 2020, and in 
some cases, considerably later. As such onshore wind is seen as a key element of the 
portfolio of low carbon generation technologies which the CCC highlighted as being required 
to ensure that UK renewable energy targets and climate change commitments are met.

The November 2013 RER Update, highlights that despite a significant boost in renewable 
electricity in the 12 months to June 2013, the amount of extra renewable energy, across all 3 
of the main sectors of electricity generation, in the period 2018 to 2020 will have to be 
greater than has been achieved in the entire period to date i.e. some 70TWh. The 2013 
Update acknowledges there remain so many uncertainties and economic issues to be 
addressed for much of the overall pattern of supply that we have to continue to place great 
weight on the ability to deliver from the onshore wind sector without the need for the 
enhanced levels of support that other sectors are getting now or will need into the future. 

The CCC 5th Progress Report October 2013 reiterates that a step change in the pace of 
emissions reductions is required to meet carbon budgets and the implementation of 
measures designed to deliver a sustainable, low carbon economy which contributes to the 
global imperative to limit climate change and that a significant increase in the rate of 
decarbonisation.

The Roadmap Update, November 2013, confirmed that onshore wind continues to have an 
important role to play in UK energy policy. As with the 2012 Update, the 2013 Update 
emphasises the economic benefits presented by renewable energy. The 2013 Update 
emphasises: that renewable energy offers the UK a wide range of benefits from an economic 
growth, energy security and climate change perspective; that 4.1% of energy consumption 
came from renewable sources in 2012 against a target of 15% by 2020; that onshore wind is 
one of the most cost effective and proven renewable energy technologies and has an 
important part to play in a responsible and balanced UK energy policy and that renewable 
energy helps the UK achieve challenging decarbonisation targets and a key benefit of 
deploying renewable energy technologies is the potential reduction in carbon emissions. 

International Energy Policy
The 2015 United Nations Climate Change Conference (COP 21) was held in Paris, from 30 
November to 12 December 2015. The conference negotiated the Paris Agreement, a global 
agreement on the reduction of climate change, the text of which represented a consensus of 
the representatives of the 196 parties attending it. On 12 December 2015 the participating 
195 countries agreed by consensus to the final draft of the Paris Agreement, to reduce 
emissions as part of the method for reducing greenhouse gas. In the 12-page document the 
members agreed to reduce their carbon output "as soon as possible" and to do their best to 
keep global warming "to well below 2 oC.

Page 20



On 30 November 2015 David Cameron addressed the summit and made the following points 
and statement: 

We all know exactly what is needed to make a good deal here in Paris. We need a 
deal that keeps 2 degrees alive. A deal with a binding legal mechanism.

But they would ask us why is it difficult to reach a legally binding agreement when in 
2015 there are already 75 countries – including countries across most of the 
continents of our world – that already have legally binding climate change 
legislation?....

How can we argue that it’s difficult when in London alone there’s 5 trillion of funds 
under management and we haven’t even really begun to generate the private finance 
that is possible to help in tackling climate change?

They’ll ask us: was it really too difficult to agree to a mechanism to measure and 
verify what we’ve all signed up to? How can that be so difficult, that we agree that 
over time we must make sure that we are delivering on the things that we said we 
would deliver on here in Paris. And finally, would we really be able to argue that it 
was too difficult?

Too difficult to transfer technology from rich countries to poorer countries? Our 
grandchildren would rightly ask us: what was so difficult? You had this technology, 
you knew it worked, you knew that if you gave it to poor and vulnerable countries 
they could protect themselves against climate change – why on earth didn’t you do 
it?

What I’m saying is that instead of making excuses tomorrow to our children and 
grandchildren, we should be taking action against climate change today. What we 
are looking for is not difficult, it is doable and therefore we should come together and 
do it.

When the various national, EU and international policies and statements on renewable 
energy and climate change are read together it is clear that both nationally and 
internationally there is no dispute regarding:

1. the seriousness of climate change and its potential effects; 
2. the seriousness of the need to cut carbon dioxide emissions
3. the seriousness of the Governments intention regarding deployment of renewable 

energy generation and reduction in CO2 emissions. 

It is erroneous to suggest that somehow the need case for onshore wind has abated and 
that it is necessary that a scheme should do less harm than in circumstances when need 
was more urgent. The Paris agreement and the Prime Minister’s speech at that meeting was 
explicit in recognising that there has been no lessening in the need for action in tackling 
climate change and wind generation plays a part in this.

Planning Policy
In principle, new renewable energy projects are supported by local and national planning 
policies with a strategic commitment to decentralising energy production and meeting 
climate change targets.  Policy CP42 of the adopted Core Strategy, which deals with 
standalone Renewable energy, states that projects, such as this, will be supported unless 

Page 21



the scheme would result in demonstrable harm to a designated historic area or natural 
landscape.

Paragraph 98 of the NPPF makes it clear that applicants need not demonstrate a need for 
renewable energy schemes as justification and the onus is to approve all such applications 
subject to satisfactory resolution of all site specific constraints. This includes the following:

 The landscape, particularly in and around AONBs
 The Green Belt
 Biodiversity
 The historic environment including the setting of listed buildings
 Site and its setting
 Use of the local transport network
 Residential amenity, including noise, odour, visual amenity and safety, and
 Best and most versatile agricultural land.

The core purpose of the planning system as stated within the NPPF is to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development. Sustainable development is defined as meeting 
the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their 
own needs. At the heart of the decision making process as set out by the NPPF is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. It goes further to identify that planning 
plays a key role in securing radical reductions in greenhouse gas emission which is central 
to achieving the economic, social and environmental dimensions of sustainable 
development. 

Proposals for the generation of energy from renewable sources are in principle supported by 
National policy due to their contribution to sustainable development, meeting the challenges 
of climate change, air quality and fuel security. Policy asserts that such applications should 
be encouraged and any application be approved if its impacts are or can be made to be 
acceptable. This supportive stance towards development proposals which will generate 
renewable energy where the impacts of the proposal are or can be made acceptable is also 
found within the Core Strategy as outlined above.

With regard to the Core Strategy, the “Strategic Objective” to address climate change 
(Strategic Objective 2) and Core Policy 42 (Standalone renewable energy installations) 
directly reflect the national policy picture and as such are considered to carry weight.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPG sets out what should be considered when determining 
applications for wind turbines. This is a material consideration in the determination of the 
application. 

The site is located within the Green Belt. Paragraph 91 of the NPPF states:

When located in the Green Belt, elements of many renewable energy projects will 
comprise inappropriate development. In such cases developers will need to 
demonstrate very special circumstances if projects are to proceed. Such very special 
circumstances may include the wider environmental benefits associated with increased 
production of energy from renewable sources.

The benefits of the proposal must therefore outweigh the harm and very special 
circumstances must be advanced for the development not to be in conflict with Para 91 of 
the NPPF. The planning balance and conclusion on this matter is addressed later in the 
report.

Page 22



The Ministerial guidance issued on 18 June 2015 is material to the determination of the 
application and in summary states- 

Local people should have the final say on wind farm applications. When determining 
planning applications for wind energy development involving one or more wind turbines, 
local planning authorities should only grant planning permission if:

 the development site is in an area identified as suitable for wind energy development 
in a Local or Neighbourhood Plan; and

 following consultation, it can be demonstrated that the planning impacts identified by 
affected local communities have been fully addressed and therefore the proposal has 
their backing.

In applying these new considerations, suitable areas for wind energy development will need 
to have been allocated clearly in a Local or Neighbourhood Plan.  Local planning authorities 
can find the proposal acceptable if, following consultation, they are satisfied it has addressed 
the planning impacts identified by affected local communities and therefore has their 
backing. The Wiltshire Core Strategy doesn’t specifically allocate sites for renewable energy 
but requires decisions to be made on a case by case basis. Therefore the development can 
be supported in principle. The acceptability of the site for this form of development is set out 
in the report below.

The NPPF states that LPAs must take into account the benefits of the best and most 
versatile land, and that where development is considered necessary local planning 
authorities should seek to use poorer quality land rather than high quality land. The land 
quality in this instance is therefore a material consideration. In considering this aspect it is 
noted that the land forms an unused part of the golf course and is not used for agriculture.

Having considered the above the development could be considered acceptable in principle 
and this is discussed in detail below.

Impact on Amenities of Local Residents
Whilst the courts have found that  individuals do not have the right to protection of a 
particular view from within their properties there comes a point when, by virtue of the 
proximity, size and scale of a given development proposal, a residential property would be 
rendered so unattractive a place to live that planning permission should be refused. The 
public interest is engaged because it would not be right in a civil society to force someone to 
live in a property, which, viewed objectively, the majority of people would consider to be 
unattractive.

The test of what would be unacceptably unattractive should be an objective test, albeit that 
judgement is required in its application in the circumstances of a particular case. Changing 
the outlook from a property is not sufficient to warrant a refusal. Indeed, even a fundamental 
change in outlook is not necessarily unacceptable. The visual component of residential 
amenity should be assessed “in the round” taking into account factors such as distance from 
the turbines, the orientation, size and layout of the dwelling etc. and each case has to be 
decided on its own merits.

At no dwelling would the turbine be visually overbearing, overwhelming or oppressive such 
that they would be rendered unattractive places in which to live. Given the limited scale of 
this development, the location of two turbines, the separation distances, the orientation of 
properties, landform, existing mature vegetation, built development, amenity space and 
openness of view, the site is such that the proposal would not harmfully change the living 
conditions of any local properties in respect of outlook, noise and shadow flicker. An 
assessment of potential noise impacts was submitted and has been considered by the 

Page 23



Public Protection officer who confirmed no objection, subject to a noise condition being 
attached to any grant of planning permission.

As for any shadow flicker, the nearest dwellings would be outside the turbine’s zone of 
influence which would be less than 400 metres. On this basis, it is concluded that the 
proposal is unlikely to cause significant noise or shadow flicker nuisance to any nearby 
residents. In addition, there were no objections from the Council’s Highway Officer to the 
proposal on highway safety.

Character and Appearance
The site is located in the Green Belt and in close proximity to the AONB boundary and 
around 2km from the nearest large settlements (Bathford, Box and Ashley). It stands in an 
area of manicured mown grass that forms part of the practice area for the Golf Club with an 
access road leading to a driving range and surface car park. 

The area around the appeal site is dominated by the existing golf course, a series of 
electricity pylons interspersed with hedgerows, small plantations of woodland, occasional 
specimen trees and dry stone walling. The dominant landscape feature within the locality are 
the electricity pylons. The site is in close proximity to an AONB and the NPPF recognises 
that these are important landscapes and should be afforded significant protection. While 
there are no hard and fast rules about how suitable areas for renewable energy should be 
identified, the Core Strategy doesn’t preclude such development in the AONB or green belt, 
suggesting that small scale wind turbines may be acceptable. Indeed, the AONB board have 
raised no specific objections to the scheme and trust the judgement and professionalism of 
the Council’s landscape officer. 

Though the Golf Course is over 100 years old, the recent approval of a replacement 
clubhouse, driving range, green keepers buildings and other structures around the site 
demonstrates that this is a landscape, or location that can accommodate some development 
without causing undue harm. Given the nature of the application site, officers and some local 
residents are satisfied that the proposed medium sized turbine would successfully blend into 
its immediate surroundings with negligible impact.

Nevertheless, as a tall feature it would be noticeable in the immediate area. In this regard, a 
series of photomontages and a LVIA were submitted showing how the turbine would appear 
from various viewpoints. It is noted that in some views the turbine would be partly obscured 
by vegetation and landform and in other locations existing built development. It is further 
noted that the surrounding landscape contains other man made features, such as overhead 
cables and pylons, which would still be the dominant feature within the landscape.

It is considered that the proposal would have a low to moderate visual impact from nearby 
vantage points and though partially visible from a far it is considered that the impact would 
not cause significant harm to the character and appearance of the locality in these longer 
range views, including the wider road and public footpath network. 

As set out above, there is a bridleway and public right away in close proximity to the site. 
Within the immediate vicinity of the site, the turbine would be prominent and thus reducing 
the rural ambience of people using these paths, however, it is important to note that this is a 
long established golf course & driving range and the rural ambiance that one would 
experience in a agricultural field has already been somewhat eroded. As such the turbine 
would result in some moderate harm with the level of harm reducing to minor the further one 
was away from the site. However, the turbine would still be seen in the backdrop of the more 
imposing and dominant electricity pylons.

Page 24



It is concluded that that these turbines, when seen in longer views, would occupy only a 
small portion of any views towards it and in more distant views, the observer would have to 
be looking for the turbine in order to pick it out. In summary, having considered relevant local 
and national planning policies, comments from the landscape officer and consultation 
responses the development will have no significant adverse impact on the character of the 
area and can be supported on landscape grounds.

Many local residents have raised objections to the proposal because of impact on the 
character of the area without quantifying what this harm is. The fact that any wind turbine will 
inevitably result in landscape character and visual effects, sometimes extending over many 
miles, is recognised in national guidance at every level. What no objector has done is to go 
on to determine the acceptability of such impacts in the way that the applicant has done and 
which has been agreed by the Council’s Landscape Officer. The extent and magnitude of 
harm is not in dispute. However, it is important to know how much harm should be weighed 
against the turbine in the planning balance.
 
The local objectors do not define over what extent of the local and distant landscape the 
turbine would dominate. In summarising they conclude that the turbine would cause 
significant adverse visual effects both locally and in longer distance views, some of which 
are many miles away. The objectors present no evidence to substantiate such an argument 
but appear to be relying on the ministerial guidance issued on 18 June 2015 (should the 
Council receive sufficient objections they believe that permission should automatically be 
refused).  Some local residents suggest that the landscape is so sensitive to visual change 
that significant visual effects would extend out to Trowbridge and Bathavon and other 
settlements that are not visible from the site. This position and assertion is not considered to 
be accurate.

There would only be effects upon the landscape locally where the turbine would be 
prominent. Locally, up to about 1km from its location, the turbine would be visible, but only 
from certain directions. The area of visual dominance and prominence would be limited and 
the dominant feature within the landscape would still be the adjacent electricity pylons. As 
such, the turbine would not be a significant or defining characteristic of area and that the 
overall characteristic of an extensive settled landscape would prevail.

Based on these conclusions, whilst the turbine would result in some minor and limited harm 
to the setting of the AONB, that harm would not conflict with the duty to conserve and 
enhance the natural beauty of the AONB. Impact on the AONB and Landscape is addressed 
further below.

Cumulative impact of other renewable energy installations in the vicinity
With regard to cumulative impact with other schemes within the area, it was not possible to 
observe any turbines within long or short distance views.  No extant permissions exist within 
this part of Wiltshire and it is unclear if turbines have been approved but not implemented in 
neighbouring authorities. There is a large distance to the next settlement in the neighbouring 
authority (approximitly 2km), as such the effect of any other turbines and this proposal on the 
landscape would remain distinct.

In view of the scale of the turbines proposed and no other turbines within the locality, it is 
considered that the proposed turbines would not collectively become a significant or defining 
characteristic of the area such that they would have a harmful effect on the overall 
experience of the landscape, ANOB or Green Belt.

Consequently, the effect of this proposal on the character and appearance of the landscape 
and would not conflict with local and national planning policies.

Page 25



Ecology
An initial objection was received from the Council’s ecologist and the RSPB. Additional 
survey work was requested and submitted to the Council. Subject to the development 
conforming to the suggested mitigation (amended plans have now been received) no 
objection is raised by the RSPB or the Council’s ecologist. The impact of the development 
on bats, birds and the SSSI has been considered and the conclusion is that the development 
can be supported.

Landscape
The Council’s adopted polices and NPPF do not have an in-principle objection to the use of 
renewable energy in the AONB or where it is visible from the AONB. 

The Cotswolds Conservation Board (CCB) has adopted a number of Position Statements 
with regards to wind turbines. The Cotswolds Conservation Board supports renewable 
energy generation within the AONB or contiguous areas provided it is consistent with 
conserving and enhancing the landscape and natural beauty of the area. The Board 
recognises that small scale renewable energy projects may well be able to be 
accommodated within the landscape without causing harm. However what constitutes 
“small” and the significance of any visual impact must be defined by the critical 
characteristics which make that landscape special. Projects which are close to existing 
settlements where the impact of manmade structures are more prevalent will be more 
acceptable than projects in the open countryside where visual clutter should be avoided. All 
renewable energy proposals must be justified by reference to a landscape impact 
assessment.

Having taken into consideration the tests of location, scale and integration within the 
landscape it is considered that the development will not have an adverse impact on the 
character and appearance of the AONB. National Planning Practice Guidance published in 
March 2014 confirmed that local planning authorities have a duty to consider if development 
proposals that are situated outside National Park or Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
boundaries might have an impact on the setting of, and implementation of, the statutory 
purposes of these protected areas.

The landscape appraisal submitted by the applicant suggests that the turbines will be visible 
from locations within the Cotswolds AONB and this conclusion is correct. However, taking 
into consideration the proposals discrete location, in the backdrop of trees, electricity pylons, 
numerous manmade structures and the golf course, there is no conflict with local or national 
polices. Indeed the selection of this site for the siting of the turbines appears to be in 
accordance with the AONBs advice note and in accordance with local and national planning 
policies.

The views above are consistent with the evidence submitted within the LVIA  and 
consultation response from the Council’s landscape officer. 

Green Belt
As set out in paragraph 91 of the NPPF, elements of many renewable energy projects will 
comprise inappropriate development. In such cases developers will need to demonstrate 
very special circumstances if projects are to proceed. The NPPF then explains what might 
constitute very special circumstances.

Having considered the application, NPPG, NPPF it is considered that very special 
circumstances (Clean renewable energy, long term income for the golf club, the fact that the 
works are reversible and equipment will be removed when no longer needed) do exist to 
outweigh the harm to the green belt and taking into consideration the circumstances. 
Furthermore, the harm to openness is comparatively limited given the number and scale of 

Page 26



the turbines and the immediate surroundings and setting within the golf course. Permission 
can therefore be granted.

Horses
The Wiltshire Bridleways Association and other horse riders have raised concerns to the 
proposed development as a main road and bridleway are located within 100m of the 
proposed turbines. Information has been presented by them in the form of a leaflet from The 
British Horse Society, this leaflet recommends that turbines are located at least 200m from 
and bridleway.  However, The BHS clarifies that every site is different and a blanket policy to 
cover all situations may be excessively restrictive for some sites. In this case the closest 
turbine is approximately 100m from the bridleway, however, there is a thick tree belt 
between the bridleway and the application site and thereby screening the turbines from clear 
view.   

A very high percentage of operational wind farms are in rural locations in which horse riding 
can and does take place. There is no reliable empirical evidence to demonstrate that wind 
turbines are unsafe for horses and riders. The British Horse Society Scotland (BHS) Advice 
Note, is very positive in tone, recognising that horse riding and wind turbines can happily and 
safely co-exist. It also provides very practical advice regarding habituation and riding.

Taking into consideration the size and scale of the turbines there does not appear to be 
sufficient evidence to refuse the application.

Setting of the Listed Building
Section 66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
the decision maker to have special regard to the desirability of preserving a Listed Building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.

The House of Lords in the South Lakeland case decided that the “statutorily desirable object 
of preserving the character of appearance of an area is achieved either by a positive 
contribution to preservation or by development which leaves character or appearance 
unharmed, that is to say preserved.”

The proposed development is located over 1 km from the nearest listed building. Having 
viewed the site from various listed buildings surrounding the site it is considered that the 
proposal is unlikely to be visible and will therefore have a neutral impact on the setting of the 
listed buildings in the vicinity of the turbine. The proposal is considered to accord with CP58 
of the Core Strategy and the NPPF. Even if the turbines were visible from these buildings the 
views would not be clear and would only be fleeting and there would be no significant 
adverse effect on any heritage asset in the locality.

In terms of the NPPF, if the turbines were visible from any designated heritage assets the 
adverse impact on this asset would amount to less than substantial harm, and this would be 
a consideration to be weighed against the benefits of the appeal scheme.

Setting of the World Heritage Site
Public consultation didn’t directly identify an objection to the proposed turbines in relation to 
the Bath World Heritage Site. However, a request was made to carefully consider the 
potential of the development to affect views into and out of the World Heritage site as well as 
its setting.

The turbines are proposed to be located on a piece of land lower than the surrounding area, 
furthermore the land to the West of the sight, towards the World Heritage Site, gradually 
slopes up before suddenly dropping into the valley below. Before this drop there is extensive 

Page 27



woodland planting which means that the turbines will not be clearly visible if visible at all 
from the world heritage site or views into it.

The turbines will be located in close proximity to existing electricity Pylons which are far 
larger in terms of height and footprint when compared to the proposal. These pylons offer an 
excellent reference point in visually assessing the possible prominence of the turbines from 
the World Heritage Site. Visits have taken place in Bath City Centre, Bradford on Avon, 
Bathford, Bathampton, Warminster Road, Bath Golf Course, Gloucester Road and Cold 
Ashton. From these site visits it was difficult to identify the pylons in the wider landscape. It is 
therefore concluded that as the proposal is smaller than the pylons the proposal would not 
harm the setting of the World Heritage Site and is not in conflict with section 12 of the NPPF 
or paragraph 35 of the NPPG.

Ministerial Statement
The ministerial statement is clear about the weight to be applied to neighbour 
representations and requires LPAs to give weight to objections and letters of support. 

The Core Strategy does not specifically allocate land for wind energy development but does 
support the principle of it. The site is therefore in an area identified as suitable for wind 
energy development and fulfils the first requirement in the ministerial statement.

Consultation has taken place and all responses from local residents have been taken into 
consideration in the determination of the application.

The report above clearly demonstrates that that the planning impacts identified by affected
local communities have been fully addressed and therefore the proposal can be granted 
planning permission in the context of the ministerial statement for the reasons given below.

The objection relating to protected species has now been overcome with survey work and 
alterations to the siting of the turbines.

The objections relating to noise are noted but the Council’s public protection officer has 
considered the comments and has concluded that the development would not have any 
adverse impact on the amenities of local residents. To protect their interests a condition has 
also been suggested. It is concluded that this concern has been overcome.

Having applied the transitional provisions in the WMS of 18 June 2015 to this case, the 
Council is satisfied that the planning impacts identified by the affected local communities 
have been addressed by expert analysis and supporting documentation.  The planning 
impacts identified by local residents have been addressed but the proposal still does not 
have their backing. 

The WMS of 18 June 2015 states that ‘authorities should only grant planning permission 
if....’ The statement therefore does allow flexibility in the decision making process. Had Greg 
Clark Minister for Communities and Local Government intended to always give local 
residents the final say, the WMS would have been explicit and stated that ‘local authorities 
can not’ or ‘local authorities must not’ grant planning permission.  As such, the proposed 
scheme would has  met the transitional arrangements set out in the WMS of 18 June 2015 
as the concerns raised have been overcome. 

Page 28



Benefits of the Scheme
The benefits in favour of the development are: 

 the supply of a material amount of renewable energy and contribution to the 
achievement of the national target in terms of UK’s energy demand from renewable 
resources by 2020. This remains an important material consideration in its own right. 

 the contribution to mitigating climate change;
 energy security through contributing to a mix of renewable resources in Wiltshire.
 provision of renewable energy at lowest cost to the consumer; 
 additional income for the golf club at a time when the numbers playing golf is 

decreasing and club membership fell 14 per cent between 2004 and 2013 
 direct and indirect economic benefits recognised by the Government;
 the development is a wholly reversible form of development which would result in 

very limited harm to landscape character and leave the visual resource intact.

Conclusion
The turbines would make a modest, but valuable, contribution towards national targets for 
the production of energy from renewable sources and thereby contribute to meeting the 
objectives of the Climate Change Act, and emerging National and International Energy 
Policy and this must be afforded significant weight. They would also help in sustaining the 
golf course and providing valuable additional income.
 
In terms of landscape impact, it is concluded that the landscape impact of the proposed 
turbines on the AONB and countryside setting would not be significant, and that the turbines 
would not result in harm to the AONB. It is considered that the proposed development would 
not conflict with the duty to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the AONB, this must 
have weight in favour of the scheme in the planning balance.
 
It has been acknowledged that there would be some moderate and localised harm to the 
local landscape and similarly there would be a moderate adverse visual impact resulting in 
conflict with CP51. Limited weight is attached to the effect on neighbours’ living conditions as 
perceived by the local community, despite the fact that the impact would not result in any 
property becoming an unacceptable or unattractive place in which to live. 

It is considered that the proposed development as a whole contributes towards sustainability 
objectives and as such is inherently justified in principle. This level site is considered to be 
well suited for the installation of these medium/small sized turbines and will not stop the use 
of the land for outdoor recreation purposes. The concerns raised by the Parish Council and 
local residents have been taken into account and overcome through expert analysis and 
appropriate technical information. The development is considered to have overcome these 
concerns and can be supported and in compliance with  local planning polices contained 
within the Wiltshire Core Strategy, in particular CP42, CP48, CP50, CP51 & CP58
and national planning policies.

In accordance with Section 66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 special regard has been afforded to the desirability of preserving a Listed Building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
The development can therefore be supported.

RECOMMENDATION
Planning permission is GRANTED subject to planning conditions:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Page 29



REASON:   To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:

PS-01 Dated 27/08/2015

PS-02 Dated 27/08/2015

PS-03 Dated 27/08/2015

PS-04 Dated 12/09/2014

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3 The date of the 1st production of electricity shall be notified in writing to the local 
planning authority within 28 days of the event occurring.

REASON: In the interests of amenity and the finite operation of this type of 
development.

4 This permission shall remain valid for a period of 25 years from the date that electricity 
from the development is first generated. Within 12 months of the cessation of 
electricity production at the site, or the expiration of this permission, whichever is the 
sooner, all development comprised in the scheme hereby permitted shall be removed 
and the land restored in accordance with a scheme that shall have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to the commencement of 
the development.

REASON: : To ensure upon the development no longer being in use, the complete 
removal of all development allowed under this permission and the restoration of the 
land to its former condition.

5 If the turbine ceases to be operational for a continuous period of 6 months, it shall be 
dismantled and removed from the site and the land shall be restored in accordance 
with the scheme referred to in condition 3 above.

REASON: : To ensure upon the development no longer being in use, the complete 
removal of all development allowed under this permission and the restoration of the 
land to its former condition.

Page 30



6 The development shall not commence until details of the colour and finish of the wind 
turbine have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and shall be 
maintained in the approved colour.

REASON:  In the interests of the appearance of the site and the amenities of the area.

7 The background noise emissions generated by the turbines shall not exceed 5dB(A) 
above the background noise at any dwelling that lawfully exists at the date of this 
permission.

REASON: In the interest of the amenity of local residents. 

8 No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout 
the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:

a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 

b) loading and unloading of plant and materials 

c) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 

d) wheel washing facilities 

e) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction 

a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction 
works 

f) works of restoration to the highway and dry stone walls which may be have to be 
removed to facilitate the installation of the turbines.

REASON: To ensure adequate protection, mitigation and compensation for protected 
species, priority species and priority habitats.

9 Prior to the first use of the development permitted, a Noise Management Plan (NMP) 
will be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The Noise 
Management Plan shall include a methodology to receive, assess and respond to 
noise complaints and take preventative action where possible to manage future 
incidents.

REASON: In the interests of amenity of local residents. 

Page 31



10 Development shall not commence until a scheme has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority setting out a protocol for the 
assessment of electromagnetic interference in the event of any complaint, including 
remedial measures. The turbine shall be operated in accordance with the agreed 
protocol.

REASON: In the interests of amenity of local residents. 

INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:

Any alterations to the approved plans, brought about by compliance with Building 
Regulations or any other reason must first be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority before commencement of work.

INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 

Please note that Council offices do not have the facility to receive material samples. 
Please deliver material samples to site and inform the Planning Officer where they are 
to be found.

INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 

The applicant is requested to note that this permission does not affect any private 
property rights and therefore does not authorise the carrying out of any work on land 
outside their control. If such works are required it will be necessary for the applicant to 
obtain the landowners consent before such works commence.

If you intend carrying out works in the vicinity of the site boundary, you are also 
advised that it may be expedient to seek your own advice with regard to the 
requirements of the Party Wall Act 1996.

Page 32



1:2,500 °© Crown copyright and database rights 2014 Ordnance Survey 100049050

14/08906/FUL
Kingsdown Golf Club

Kingsdown
Corsham
Wiltshire

SN13 8BS

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	6a 14/08906/FUL- Kingsdown Golf Club, Corsham, Wiltshire, SN13 8BS
	14.8906.FUL - Kingsdown Golf Club Kingsdown Corsham- location plan


